## Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Practice Accreditation Committee - Terms of Reference

24 November 2021

## Contents

Bac	kground	2
1.	Defined terms and interpretation	2
2.	Inconsistency	3
3.	Application of Terms of Reference	4
4.	Performance of Accreditation Functions	4
5.	Financial Arrangements	4
6.	Review of work plan, funds and attachments	5
7.	Reporting and performance review	6
8.	Ownership of Intellectual Property Rights in Accreditation Material	6
9.	Duty to Act in the Public Interest	6
10.	Conflicts of Interest and Conflict	6
11.	Membership	7
12.	Quorum	7
13.	Appointment of Members and Term of Appointment	7
14.	Meetings and Procedures	8
15.	Assessment Teams	8
16.	Decision Making	8
17.	Communication Arrangements	8
18.	Stakeholder collaboration	8
19.	Dispute resolution	9
20.	Other	9
21.	Review of these Arrangements	9

## Background

- A The Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Practice Board of Australia (**Board**) has decided the Accreditation Functions for the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Practice profession will be exercised by an accreditation committee established by the Board, pursuant to section 43 of the National Law.
- B The Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Practice Accreditation Committee (Accreditation Committee) is established by the Board under clause 11 of schedule 4 of the National Law.
- C In addition to the objectives and guiding principles in the National Law, the priorities of the Board, the Accreditation Committee and the Australian Health Practitioner Regulation Agency (AHPRA) in administering Accreditation Functions for the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander health practice profession are to enhance safety and quality, embed inter-professional learning and practice, improve Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander health, address cultural safety, achieve greater consistency, share good practice, strengthen governance, transparency and accountability, respond to health and workforce priorities and reduce regulatory burden and duplication (**Priorities**).
- D AHPRA will support the Accreditation Committee to carry out its Accreditation Functions consistently with these Terms of Reference, pursuant to section 25 of the National Law and consistent with the Health Profession Agreement between the Board and AHPRA under section 26 of the National Law.

## 1. Defined terms and interpretation

## 1.1 Defined terms

In this document:

**Accreditation Functions** means the accreditation functions referred to in Part 6 of the National Law which are set out in Attachment B.

**Accreditation Material** means Material created or developed by or on behalf of the Accreditation Committee in the course of performing the Accreditation Functions.

Accreditation Systems Review means the Independent Review of Accreditation Systems in the National Registration and Accreditation Scheme commissioned by the Australian Health Ministers' Advisory Council.

Approved Accreditation Standards has meaning given to it in section 5 of the National Law.

Approved Program of Study has the meaning given to it in section 5 of the National Law.

**Commencement Date** means the date set out in Item 1 of Attachment A.

**Conflict** means any matter, circumstance, interest or activity that reasonably may or may appear to, impair or compromise the ability of the Accreditation Committee to perform the Accreditation Functions and otherwise carry out its duties diligently, independently and in accordance with these Terms of Reference and the National Law.

Dispute has the meaning given to it in clause 19.

End Date means the date set out in Item 2 of Attachment A.

**Fee Setting Principles** means the principles for setting Third Party Fees set out in Attachment E, as updated under clause 6.

**Funding Principles** means the principles for the Accreditation Committee to request, and the Board (in consultation with AHPRA) to determine the Funds to be allocated to support the work of the Accreditation Committee in each financial year, set out in Item 1 of Attachment D as updated under clause 6.

Funds means the amount set out in Item 2 of Attachment D, as updated under clause 6.

**Health Profession Agreement** means the agreement entered into by AHPRA with the Board in accordance with section 26 of the National Law.

**Key Performance Indicators** means the key performance indicators set out in Attachment F as updated under clause 6.

**National Law** means the Health Practitioner Regulation National Law, as in force in each State and Territory.

Protected Information has the meaning set out in the National Law.

Terms of Reference means this document, including its attachments.

**Third Party Fees** means the fees that the Board approves and AHPRA charges education providers in connection with the performance of the Accreditation Functions by the Accreditation Committee.

Work Plan means the work plan set out in Attachment C, as updated under clause 6.

#### **1.2 Interpretation**

In these Terms of Reference, except where the context otherwise requires:

- a) the singular includes the plural and vice versa, and a gender includes other genders;
- b) another grammatical form of a defined word or expression has a corresponding meaning;
- c) a reference to a clause, paragraph, attachment or annexure is to a clause or paragraph of, or attachment or annexure to, these Terms of Reference, and a reference to these Terms of Reference includes any attachment or annexure;
- d) a reference to a document or instrument includes the document or instrument as novated, altered, supplemented or replaced from time to time;
- e) a reference to A\$, \$A, dollar, AUD or \$ is to Australian currency;
- f) a reference to time is to Melbourne, Australia time;
- g) a reference to a person includes a natural person, partnership, body corporate, association, governmental or local Committee or agency or other entity;
- h) a reference to a statute, ordinance, code or other law includes regulations and other instruments under it and consolidations, amendments, re-enactments or replacements of any of them; and
- i) the meaning of general words is not limited by specific examples introduced by including, for example or similar expressions.

## 1.3 Headings

Headings are for ease of reference only and do not affect interpretation.

## 2. Inconsistency

If there are changes to the National Law or any relevant decisions by Ministers in connection with the Accreditation Systems Review which may impact on the ability of the Accreditation Committee to carry out

its Accreditation Functions consistently with these Terms of Reference, the Board will amend the Terms of Reference in consultation with the Accreditation Committee and AHPRA to resolve the issues.

## 3. Application of Terms of Reference

- a) The Terms of Reference take effect on the Commencement Date and continue to apply to the Accreditation Committee until the End Date.
- b) The Board may change the End Date at any time in consultation with the Accreditation Committee and AHPRA.

## 4. Performance of Accreditation Functions

- a) The Accreditation Committee must perform the Accreditation Functions:
  - (i) with due care and skill, in a professional manner and in compliance with all applicable laws and regulatory requirements; and
  - (ii) in accordance with the Work Plan and so as to achieve the Key Performance Indicators.
- b) The Accreditation Committee, in consultation with AHPRA, must:
  - (i) commence a review of the Work Plan for the next financial year by 31 December each year;
  - (ii) complete a review of the Work Plan for the next financial year by 1 February each year; and
  - (iii) submit the Work Plan for the next financial year to the Board by 1 March each year for consideration and approval.
- c) The Board will provide written advice to the Accreditation Committee about the outcomes of its consideration and approval of the Work Plan for the next financial year by 31 Marcheach year.

## 5. Financial Arrangements

## 5.1 Funding arrangements

- a) The Board, in consultation with AHPRA, will make provision for the Funds in the Board's budget to enable the Accreditation Committee to carry out its Accreditation Functions consistently with these Terms of Reference.
- b) The Accreditation Committee, in consultation with AHPRA, must:
  - submit a budget to explain the Funds for delivery of the Work Plan for the next financial year to the Board by 1 March each year for consideration and approval; and
  - (ii) apply the Funding and Fee Setting Principles in developing the budget for delivery of the Work Plan for the next financial year
- c) The Board will provide written advice to the Accreditation Committee about the outcomes of its consideration and approval of the budget and the Funds by 31 March each year.
- d) The Board, in consultation with AHPRA, will apply the Funding and Fee Setting Principles to its consideration and approval of the budget and Funds for delivery of the Work Plan for the next financial year.

## 5.2 Accountability for use of Funds

The Accreditation Committee and AHPRA, must:

- a) use the Funds only for the performance of the Accreditation Functions, and related activities specified in the Work Plan; and
- b) submit quarterly reports to the Board on actual financial status against the approved budget and Funds for delivery of the Work Plan.

## 5.3 Third Party Fees

The Board, in consultation with AHPRA, must apply the Fee Setting Principles in approving Third Party Fees as part of its consideration and approval of the budget and Funds for delivery of the Work Plan for the next financial year.

## 5.4 Unused Funds

All amounts provisioned in the Board's budget but not used or not applied by the Accreditation Committee and AHPRA for delivery of the Work Plan will be retained by the Board.

## 6. Review of work plan, funds and attachments

- a) The Accreditation Committee, the Board or AHPRA may initiate discussions on the:
  - (i) Work Plan;
  - (ii) Funds;
  - (iii) Funding Principles;
  - (iv) Fee Setting Principles;
  - (v) reporting and documentation requirements set out in Attachment F; and
  - (vi) Key Performance Indicators,

from time to time.

- b) Where discussions take place under clause 6a)(i) or 6a)(ii), the Board, in consultation with AHPRA, will:
  - (i) conduct a review of the Work Plan or Funds including seeking advice from the Accreditation Committee; and
  - (ii) acting in good faith and in consultation with AHPRA and the Accreditation Committee, consider whether any changes are required and confirm the Work Plan or Funds going forward, taking into account:
    - (A) in relation to changes to the Work Plan, the Accreditation Committee's current performance of the Accreditation Functions and any request from the Accreditation Committee for any changes to the Work Plan; and
    - (B) in relation to changes to the Funds, the Funding and Fee Setting Principles and any request from the Accreditation Committee for any changes to the Funds,

with any review under this clause to occur not more than once annually, unless there is a significant reason for the review to be conducted on a more frequent basis.

- c) Where discussions take place in relation to clause 6a)(iii) to 6a)(vi), AHPRA, in consultation with the Board, will conduct a review of the:
  - (iii) Funding Principles;
  - (iv) Fee Setting Principles;
  - (v) Reporting and documentation requirements set out in Attachment F; and/or
  - (vi) Key Performance Indicators; and

acting in good faith and in consultation with the Board, consider whether any changes are required and confirm the Work Plan or Funds going forward, taking into account any request from the Accreditation Committee for any changes.

d) If the Board, in consultation with AHPRA, decides to make changes to the items listed in clause 6(i) to 6(vi), those changes will commence from the date of that decision, unless the Board decides on a later date.

## 7. Reporting and performance review

- a) The Accreditation Committee, with support from AHPRA, must provide to the Board the reports and supporting documentation in accordance with the timeframes and form and content requirements as set out in Attachment F.
- b) If the Board, in consultation with AHPRA, identifies significant concerns or risks related to the performance of the Accreditation Functions, the Board may review the Accreditation Committee's:
  - (i) use of Funds; and
  - (ii) performance of its obligations under these Terms of Reference.

## 8. Ownership of Intellectual Property Rights in Accreditation Material

The Intellectual Property Rights subsisting in all Accreditation Material are retained by AHPRA on behalf of the Accreditation Committee and the Board.

## 9. Duty to Act in the Public Interest

Each member of the Accreditation Committee must:

- a) act impartially and in the public interest in the exercise of their functions, and
- b) put the public interest before:
  - (i) the interests of particular education providers or any entity that represents education providers
  - (ii) the interests of the profession or any entity that represents the profession, and
  - (iii) the interests of employers or any entity that represents employers.

## **10. Conflicts of Interest and Conflict**

- a) Members of the Accreditation Committee must comply with the conflict of interest requirements set out in clause 8 of schedule 4 of the National Law; and
- b) If a Conflict arises during the Term, the Accreditation Committee must notify the Board in writing immediately of the Conflict, make full disclosure of all relevant information relating to the Conflict

and take such steps as Board, in consultation with AHPRA, requires to resolve or otherwise deal with the Conflict.

#### 11. Membership

- a) The Accreditation Committee will consist of at least four members including:
  - (i) at least one individual who is not an Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Practitioner and who has relevant expertise in health education, preferably in training Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Practitioners and in accreditation within the National Scheme
  - (ii) at least one registered Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Practitioner who has relevant expertise in training of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Practitioners, and
  - (iii) at least one individual who has relevant experience in health and/or education relevant to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Practitioners, preferably including contemporary experience in primary health care settings.
- b) The Board will appoint one of the members to be the chair of the Committee.
- c) The Board will appoint one or two members to be the deputy chair(s) of the Committee.

#### 12. Quorum

A quorum for the Accreditation Committee shall be a majority of members including the Chair or Deputy Chair.

#### 13. Appointment of Members and Term of Appointment

- a) Members of the Board and members of other Board committees are not eligible for appointment to the Accreditation Committee.
- b) The Board will appoint each member of the Committee following a call for applications published on the Board's website. In deciding whether to appoint a person as a member of the Committee, the Board is to have regard to the skills and experience that are relevant to the Committee's functions.
- c) Each member of the Committee will be appointed for a term determined by the Board for up to three years and be eligible to apply for reappointment for a maximum of three terms.
- d) The Board may remove a Committee member if:
  - the member has been found guilty of an offence (whether in a participating jurisdiction or elsewhere) that, in the opinion of the Board, renders the member unfit to continue to hold the office of member; or
  - (ii) the member ceases to be a registered health practitioner as a result of the member's misconduct, impairment or incompetence; or
  - (iii) the member becomes bankrupt, applies to take the benefit of any law for the relief of bankrupt or insolvent debtors, compounds with the member's creditors or makes an assignment of the member's remuneration for their benefit; or

- (iv) the Committee or Board recommends the removal of the member, on the basis that the member has engaged in misconduct or has failed or is unable to properly exercise the member's functions as a member.
- e) Where a vacancy occurs prior to the end of a member's term, the Board may fill the vacancy on a temporary or longer term basis. It is not necessary to advertise such a vacancy before appointing a person to fill a casual vacancy but the appointment must be consistent with the membership details set out in these terms of reference.

## 14. Meetings and Procedures

- a) Meetings will be scheduled as required and be either face-to-face or held by other means such as teleconference or videoconference in accordance with clause 16 to schedule 4 of the National Law.
- b) A record of meeting will be made by AHPRA and confirmed at the next Accreditation Committee meeting.

## **15. Assessment Teams**

- a) The Accreditation Committee will convene program assessment teams and may convene other working groups to assist it to exercise its functions.
- b) AHPRA, in consultation with the Accreditation Committee, will recruit and appoint appropriate experts as contractors to participate in program assessment teams and working groups through an application process similar to that conducted for the Committee appointments.
- c) The Accreditation Committee, in consultation with AHPRA, will:
  - (i) ensure all program assessment teams complete regular training; and
  - (ii) implement systems to evaluate the performance of assessment teams which are used to continuously improve its policies and processes for assessor selection, appointment and training.

## 16. Decision Making

- a) While it is preferred that the Accreditation Committee reaches decisions by consensus, if this is not possible, a decision supported by a majority of the votes cast at a meeting at which a quorum is present, is the decision.
- b) In the event of an equality of votes, the chair of the Accreditation Committee has a second or casting vote.

## **17. Communication Arrangements**

- a) Meetings between the Chair of the Committee, AHPRA staff supporting the Committee and the Board Chair (or delegate) and Executive Officer will be conducted at least twice a year.
- b) The Board and Committee will work together in a spirit of cooperation and collaboration.

## **18. Stakeholder collaboration**

The Accreditation Committee, in consultation with AHPRA, will develop and implement processes for effective collaboration with key stakeholders including education providers and the Health Professions Accreditation Collaborative Forum.

#### **19. Dispute resolution**

In the event of a disagreement between the Accreditation Committee and the Board (dispute), the preferred approach to resolving the matter is:

- a) The Chair of the Board and the Chair of the Accreditation Committee must meet to discuss the matter and seek to resolve the disagreement. AHPRA will assist with the arrangements for such a meeting as part of its usual role in providing support to the Board and Accreditation Committee.
- b) If the Chair of the Board and the Chair of the Accreditation Committee are unable to resolve the disagreement within 28 days of meeting, they must refer the disagreement to the National Director, Policy and Accreditation, Strategy and Policy Directorate, AHPRA.
- c) The National Director, Policy and Accreditation will take reasonable steps to facilitate resolution of the disagreement to the satisfaction of the Board.

#### 20. Other

#### 20.1 Duty of confidentiality

- a) Members of the Accreditation Committee are bound by the duty of the confidentiality under section 216 of the National Law.
- b) If the Accreditation Committee intends to publish its findings under paragraph 49(4)(b) of the National Law, it must provide the Board with 14 days notice of its intention and it must consider any comments provided by the Board in response.

#### 20.2 Protection from personal liability for persons exercisingfunctions

Members of the Accreditation Committee are protected persons under section 236 of the National Law when exercising accreditation functions and:

- a) are not personally liable for anything done or omitted to be done in good faith:
  - (i) in the exercise of a function under the National Law; or
  - (ii) in the reasonable belief that the act or omission was the exercise of a function under the National Law.
- b) any liability resulting from an act or omission that would, but for subsection (1) of section 236 of the National Law, attach to a member of the Accreditation Committee attaches instead to AHPRA.

#### 20.3 Variation

- a) The Board, in consultation with the Accreditation Committee and AHPRA, may vary the scope of work in Attachment C, for example, to provide for participation in multiprofession projects.
- b) The Board must advise the Accreditation Committee and AHPRA of any proposed variation in writing and state the proposed variation and a proposed reasonable adjustment to the Funds.

#### 21. Review of these Arrangements

The accreditation arrangements will be reviewed by 30 June 2024.

(Amendments to Section 11 were approved by the Board on 24 November 2021.)

# Attachment A – Application of Terms of Reference

Item	Clause Reference	Details
1	Clause a)	(Commencement Date)
		1 August 2019
2	Clause a)	(End Date)
		30 June 2024

## Attachment B – Accreditation Functions

The Accreditation Committee will carry out the following Accreditation Functions under these Terms of Reference:

## 1.1 Development and review of accreditation standards

The Accreditation Committee will carry out the following functions relating to the development of accreditation standards:

- a) develop accreditation standards as required by the Board in accordance with the procedures for the development of accreditation standards established by AHPRA under the National Law
- b) provide advice to the Board about accreditation standards, including issues that indicate that the Approved accreditation standards require review, and
- c) regularly review the Approved accreditation standards according to timeframes, issues and funding agreed by the Accreditation Committee and AHPRA in consultation with the Board.

## 1.2 Accreditation of programs of study and education providers

The Accreditation Committee will carry out the following functions relating to accreditation of programs of study in Australia:

- a) accredit programs of study as provided for in section 48 of the National Law
- b) monitor programs of study as provided for in section 50 of the National Law
- c) submit reports on accreditation of programs of study, including monitoring
- d) provide advice to the Board about matters relating to assessment, accreditation and monitoring of programs of study as required, and in a format consistent with Communication between Accreditation Authorities and National Boards about accreditation and program approval decisions and changes to accreditation standards – a guidance document about good practice as updated from time to time.
- e) advise the Board if the Accreditation Committee refuses to accredit a program of study or revokes the accreditation of an approved program of study and provide the reasons for the Committee's decision.

## 1.3 Assessment of overseas assessing authorities

The Board does not require the Accreditation Committee to carry out this function because it is not relevant to the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander health practice profession.

## 1.4 Assessment of overseas qualified health practitioners

The Board does not require the Accreditation Committee to carry out this function because it is not relevant to the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander health practice profession